NO. 71663-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STEVEN KLEIN, INC., d/b/a KLEIN HONDA,

I.	Identity of Petitioner
II.	Citation to the Court of Appeals Decision
III.	Introduction
IV.	Issues Presented for Review
V.	Statement of the Case
VI.	Argument
A	Prior Case Law Establishes That the B&O Tax Is Levied on the Privilege of Doing Business and Not on Income
В	The Court of Appeals Majority Contradicts <i>Stiner</i> and Calls the Statutory Tax Scheme Into Question
C	The Fundamental Distinction Between Excise Taxes and Income or Property Taxes Is of Continuing Importance
VII.	Conclusion

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s) Cases City of Spokane v. State, 198 Wash. 682, 89 P.2d 826 (1939).....8 High Tide Seafoods v. State, 106 Wn.2d 695, 725 P.2d 411 (1986), app. dismissed, 479 U.S. 1073, 107 S. Ct. 1265, 94 L. Ed. 2d 126 (1987)......9 Klickitat County v. Jenner, 15 Wn.2d 373, 130 P.2d 880 (1942).....8 Mahler v. Tremper, 40 Wn.2d 405, 243 P.2d 627 (1952)......8 Morrow v. Henneford, 182 Wash. 625, 47 P.2d 1016 (1935)......8 P. Lorillard Co. v. City of Seattle, 83 Wn.2d 586, 521 P.2d 208 (1974).....9 St. Paul & Tacoma Lumber Co. v. State, 40 Wn.2d 347, 243 P.2d 474 (1952)......8 Vancouver Oil Co. v. Henneford, 183 Wash. 317, 49 P.2d 14 (1935).....8 Black v. State, 67 Wn.2d 97, 406 P.2d 761 (1965)......8 Budget Rent-A-Car v. Department of Revenue, 81 Wn.2d 171, 500 P.2d 764 (1972)......10 Covell v. City of Seattle, 127 Wn.2d 874, 905 P.2d 324 (1995)......9

Culliton v. Chase, 174 Wash. 363, 25 P.2d 81 (1933)3, 4, 9, 11
State ex rel. Hansen v. Salter, 190 Wash. 703, 70 P.2d 1056 (1937)8
Harbour Village Apartments v. City of Mukilteo, 139 Wn.2d 604, 989 P.2d 542 (1999) (Talmadge, J., dissenting)9
State ex rel. Stiner v. Yelle, 174 Wash. 402, 25 P.2d 91 (1933)
Statutes
RCW 82.04.08010
RCW 82.04.220(1)10
RCW 82.04.29011
Revenue Act of 193511
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(1)7
RAP 13 4(b)(4)

I. Identity of Petitioner

Steven Klein, Inc. d/b/a Klein Honda ("Klein") asks review of a decision of Board of Tax Appeals ("BTA"), which was affirmed by the Court of Appeals.

II. Citation to the Court of Appeals Decision

Division One of the Court of Appeals filed a published 2-1 decision on November 3, 2014, in case number 71663-8-I. A copy is attached hereto as Appendix A.

III. Introduction

At issue here are amounts received by Klein from American Honda Motors Company ("Honda" or "factory") in the form of rebates on the sale of certain vehicles during specified time periods (referred to herein as "dealer cash"). No additional services were performed by Klein in exchange for dealer cash other than selling the vehicle, and the Department of Revenue ("Department") concedes that Klein properly paid the retailing B&O on this activity.

The BTA held that dealer cash was taxable because "a taxpayer can have taxable income from business activity without providing any specific services." AR 27. ¹ The Court of Appeals majority agreed that dealer cash need not represent compensation for additional services to be

¹ The Administrative Record is referred to herein as "AR."

taxable, and that no business activity need be identified: "[T]he B&O tax is not a tax on only specific enumerated business activities, but rather on "the gross revenues received in the course of doing business." Slip op. at 9.

The dissent correctly takes issue with this conclusion, noting that "gross income is taxable only after identification of a business activity that is subject to taxation." Slip op. at 1 (Becker, J., dissenting in part) ("Dissent"). In this case, the dissent finds, the business activity exchanged for dealer cash is retailing, and the measure of the retailing tax does not include dealer payments.

The rationale for imposing the B&O tax on business activities, not income, goes back to two 1933 cases. In *State ex rel. Stiner v. Yelle*, 174 Wash. 402, 25 P.2d 91 (1933), the Court held that the B&O tax was constitutional because it was an excise tax imposed on the privilege of engaging in business activities, and not on the income from these activities:

This act does not concern itself with the income that has been acquired, but only the privilege of acquiring, and that the amount of the tax is measured by the amount of the income in no way affects the purpose of the act or the principle involved.

174 Wash. at 407. On the same day that it issued its opinion in *Stiner*, the Court handed down *Culliton v. Chase*, 174 Wash. 363, 25 P.2d 81 (1933), striking down the income tax as an unconstitutional form of property tax. These two cases form the foundation for Washington's tax statutes.

The majority opinion of the Court of Appeals thus calls into question long-established statutory interpretations based on this case law, and, in fact, directly conflicts with *Stiner*. This Court should grant review based on (1) the conflict, and (2) the substantial interest the public has in clearly understanding the basis for taxation.

IV. Issues Presented for Review

Did the BTA (and the majority opinion of the Court of Appeals) err in holding that the business and occupation ("B&O") tax is a tax on income rather than on business activity?

Did the BTA (and the majority opinion of the Court of Appeals) err in finding that incentive payments from Honda to Klein were taxable even though no discrete business activity, other than retailing, was associated with such payments and even the Department admits that dealer cash is not taxable under the retail classification?

V. Statement of the Case

Klein is an automobile dealership conducting business in Washington State. VTP 31.² The taxpayer sells new and used vehicles, provides automobile repair services and sells automobile accessories. *Id.* Klein is a Honda franchisee. *Id.* The relationship is governed by the Sales and Service Agreement between the parties. AR 309.

Klein and other Honda dealers must purchase vehicles from Honda. AR 314. The dealers have little discretion over their inventory. As Tom Hunt, the general manager at Klein, testified, Honda sends the dealer a presumptive order. VTP 38-39. The dealer may remove vehicles from the order but it cannot add them. *Id.* The order is based on prior sales history. VTP 39. Honda then ships the ordered vehicles to the dealer, issuing an invoice to the dealer for each vehicle when it ships. VTP 41, 43. AR 765, 767, 769. The invoice states a price, and the dealer remits that amount to Honda. *Id.*, VTP 43.

The invoice also states: "Dealer's invoice may not reflect dealer's ultimate vehicle cost given any rebates, allowances, collections, discounts, holdback, incentives, etc." AR 765, 767, 769; VTP 49. These adjustments to the dealer's cost come in several forms. Dealer cash is credit from Honda to Klein that is predicated on the sale of a particular

² The Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings is referred to herein as "VTP."

vehicle model during a particular period of time. AR 285. Honda tracks the sale of Honda vehicles by model. On a regular basis, Honda will issue a marketing bulletin to its dealers offering credit back on the sale of certain models within a specified time frame. AR 723 et seq. At the hearing, witness Tom Hunt described the theory behind dealer cash:

Dealer cash is a means by which American Honda kind of puts more momentum behind a particular vehicle line or model. And when I say that, I mean that what they do is they adjust the vehicle's presence in the marketplace, usually as a reaction to competitive action, which typically would be rebates, consumer rebates, and allowing the Honda dealers to remain in a competitive position on that particular model.

VTP 50. For instance, the bulletin at AR 727 shows that Honda offered the dealers \$500 back for each Civic Coupe sold between June 3, 2003 and September 30, 2003. The rebate is contingent only upon selling the designated car within the designated time. AR 285, 727. Klein does not have to do any marketing or advertising or adjust the retail price. At any given time, Honda may offer dealer cash on several models. VTP 51.

Klein does not market cars differently when they carry dealer cash.

As Tom Hunt testified:

In the sales process, it comes down to ultimately being competitive in the marketplace. And that's what the dealer incentives allow the Honda dealer to do, allows Klein Honda to do. If, for example, Toyota puts a significant rebate on a Corolla, and we have a customer cross shopping with a Civic, without the dealer incentive, you can have a

\$1,000, \$1,500 difference in acquisition costs. And having the dealer incentive to the Honda dealer allows us to reprice our cars so they can be competitive. So it essentially allows us to lower our price to be competitive in the market.

VTP 52.

There are minimal, if any, additional clerical tasks associated with dealer cash. Klein is already required to report *all* sales to Honda on a daily basis by VIN number, using Honda's proprietary network. VTP 53-54, AR 771. Honda computers recognize the specific models from the VIN numbers. On a monthly basis, Honda prepares a miscellaneous credit advice for the dealer showing the amount of dealer cash earned by VIN number. VTP 71, AR 779. The actual credit is made via the balance forward statement that summarizes every transaction between the factory and the dealer for the month, except for new car purchases. AR 772, *see also*, *e.g.*, AR 728. This statement, prepared by Honda, offsets items purchased by the dealer, like parts, against credits for warranty work, holdback, flooring, and dealer cash. AR 772. It is used by the dealer to prepare a monthly reconciliation between it and the factory.

Two other credits that lower the dealer's cost are holdbacks and flooring assistance. The so-called "holdback" refers to a credit that Honda provides for every vehicle. VTP 44. The amount of the credit is actually listed on the invoice in a somewhat obscure fashion. For instance, the

invoice at AR 769 shows a MSRP of \$17,310.00 and in the same line shows the number 51930. Adding a decimal point makes this number \$519.30 or exactly three percent of the MSRP. This three percent is the holdback paid by Klein, then credited back by Honda.

Similarly, Honda provides a "flooring" credit for each vehicle. It is intended to help offset the dealer's cost of financing inventory. VTP 45. Like the holdback it is paid as a credit on the monthly statement. The Department recognizes that these credits reduce the dealer's purchase price for the vehicle and does not subject them to B&O tax. *See* Auto Dealers Industry Guide, AR 172-74.

There are also payments by Honda to Klein that are taxable payments for services, such as pre-delivery inspection, warranty work, and advertising. VTP 48, 51.

VI. Argument

This Court should accept review because the published decisions of the BTA and Court of Appeals conflict with this Court's prior cases distinguishing excise taxes from income taxes and this issue is of continuing importance to Washington taxpayers. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

A. Prior Case Law Establishes That the B&O Tax Is Levied on the Privilege of Doing Business and Not on Income.

Excise taxes are imposed on the privilege of doing business:

(T)he obligation to pay an excise is based upon the voluntary action of the person taxed in performing the act, enjoying the privilege or engaging in the occupation which is the subject of the excise, and the element of absolute and unavoidable demand, as in the case of a property tax, is lacking. * * * 1 Cooley, Taxation, s 46, at p. 132 (4th ed. 1924).

Black v. State, 67 Wn.2d 97, 99, 406 P.2d 761 (1965).

Beginning with Stiner, this Court has long distinguished excise taxes from income or property taxes. See, e.g., Morrow v. Henneford, 182 Wash. 625, 626-31, 47 P.2d 1016 (1935) (sales tax upheld as excise); Vancouver Oil Co. v. Henneford, 183 Wash. 317, 320-21, 49 P.2d 14 (1935) (use tax upheld as excise); State ex rel. Hansen v. Salter, 190 Wash. 703, 705-06, 70 P.2d 1056 (1937) (motor vehicle tax measured as percentage of vehicle's value upheld as excise); City of Spokane v. State, 198 Wash. 682, 89 P.2d 826 (1939); (tax on use of personal property purchased at retail upheld as excise); Klickitat County v. Jenner, 15 Wn.2d 373, 380, 130 P.2d 880 (1942) (sales tax on courthouse construction upheld as excise); St. Paul & Tacoma Lumber Co. v. State, 40 Wn.2d 347, 354, 243 P.2d 474 (1952) (use tax on timber company's use of its logs and lumber products in its own operations upheld as excise); Mahler v. Tremper, 40 Wn.2d 405, 243 P.2d 627 (1952) (real estate conveyance tax upheld as excise); Black v. State, 67 Wn.2d 97, 99-100, 406 P.2d 761 (1965) (sales tax on lease of vessel as floating hotel upheld

as excise); *P. Lorillard Co. v. City of Seattle*, 83 Wn.2d 586, 589-92, 521 P.2d 208 (1974) (city business tax on wholesalers of tobacco held an excise); *High Tide Seafoods v. State*, 106 Wn.2d 695, 699-700, 725 P.2d 411 (1986) (tax on transfer of commercial food fish held an excise), *app. dismissed*, 479 U.S. 1073, 107 S. Ct. 1265, 94 L. Ed. 2d 126 (1987); *Covell v. City of Seattle*, 127 Wn.2d 874, 889-91, 905 P.2d 324 (1995) (fee on all residential property owners for improvement of city streets held a property tax). *See Harbour Village Apartments v. City of Mukilteo*, 139 Wn.2d 604, 610, 989 P.2d 542 (1999) (Talmadge, J., dissenting) (collecting cases).

Although these cases compare excise taxes with property taxes, *Culliton* established that a tax on the receipt of income was a property tax. Some lawyers and political leaders may question whether the Court would come to the same conclusion today, but this fundamental distinction is a cornerstone of Washington's statutory tax scheme and reflects the Legislature's intent in crafting the structure and language of today's B&O tax, which dates to 1935.

B. The Court of Appeals Majority Contradicts *Stiner* and Calls the Statutory Tax Scheme Into Question.

The Court of Appeals majority flatly denies that the B&O tax is an excise tax as that term is used in Washington law, instead holding that the

tax is imposed on gross revenue. Although the majority cites *Budget Rent-A-Car v. Department of Revenue*, 81 Wn.2d 171, 173, 500 P.2d 764 (1972), for that proposition, the cited language merely stated that the B&O was a tax on gross rather than net income in response to the taxpayer's claim that it made no profit on the transaction: "Thus, taxpayer's claim, that it realized no profit in selling the cars for less than it paid for them, is without relevance for the statute imposes the tax regardless of whether the business is losing or making money on the transaction." The case said nothing about the nature of excise taxes.

The majority confuses the imposition of the B&O tax on business activities with the measure of tax. As the dissent points out: "Gross income is taxable only after identification of a business activity that is subject to taxation. The tax is then 'measured by the application of rates against the value of products, gross proceeds of sales, or gross income of the business, as the case may be.' RCW 82.04.220(1)." Dissent at 1. Instead, the majority skipped this analysis and relied instead on a very broad reading of RCW 82.04.080 dealing with the gross income of a business even though this measure of tax does not apply if the only activity is retailing.

To further confuse its holding, the majority, while stating that the B&O tax is not a tax on enumerated activities, also stated that Klein's

business activity was "accepting the offer of American Honda to apply for dealer cash, selling specific models during specific times, documenting those sales as required by the manufacturer, applying to the manufacturer for dealer cash, and accepting payment." Slip op. at 9. However, as the dissent points out, these are business activities associated with retailing, upon which Klein properly paid tax. Dissent at 4. The same exact activity cannot be taxed a second time under the "services and other" B&O category in RCW 82.04.290.

Even more importantly, "accepting payment" cannot be a business activity under the case law or statutes because it would swallow whole the distinction between income taxes and excise taxes. If dealer cash—a payment—is itself a business activity as the majority opinion assumes, then the B&O is a direct tax on gross income, in contradiction to this Court's holding in *Stiner*.

C. The Fundamental Distinction Between Excise Taxes and Income or Property Taxes Is of Continuing Importance.

Culliton and Stiner form the foundation of Washington's statutory tax scheme under the Revenue Act of 1935, which relies to a very great extent on excise taxes—B&O and sales tax. Because these cases state that an income tax is an unconstitutional form of property tax, they would

require a constitutional amendment in order to enact an income tax on either business or personal income.

While some dispute the necessity for a constitutional change, Klein Honda does not present the Court with a constitutional argument requiring it to decide whether an income tax requires a vote of the people. The argument in this case is based on Washington statute. However, if the Court of Appeals decision is left standing, it will call into question longestablished understandings regarding the B&O tax and undermine the current statutory scheme. If the B&O tax is actually a tax on gross income rather than on business activity, can the differential rates for various types of businesses be sustained? Would the Legislature be free to convert the B&O to a net income tax rather than a gross income tax without a constitutional amendment? The Court of Appeals majority raises more questions than it answers.³

The constitutionality of an income tax is an issue that should await a case that squarely presents that issue. That possibility was very real as recently as 2010 when voters were asked to approve Initiative 1098, creating a state income tax by statute. If the Court of Appeals is allowed to erode the statutory scheme and legislative intent that flow from the

³ The original issue briefed to the BTA was simply whether Klein performed any additional services to justify imposing tax on the alleged "service" activity. AR 163. Both the BTA and the Court of Appeals substantially changed the thrust of the case by holding that no services were actually necessary.

Court's 1933 rulings without addressing those cases directly, it will send conflicting signals to taxpayers, legislators, and lower courts about the validity of the current scheme.

VII. Conclusion

For the above stated reasons, this Court should accept review.