RECEIVED 
SUPREME COURT 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
Jan 16, 2015, 1:48pm 

BY RONALD R CARPENTER 
CLERK 

NO. 91072-3 RECEIVED BY E-MAIL 

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

STEVEN KLEIN, INC., d/b/a KLEIN HONDA, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, 

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW 

ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
Attorney General 

Respondent. 

Andrew J. Krawczyk, WSBA No. 42982 
Assistant Attorney General 
Heidi A. Irvin, WSBA No. 17500 
Senior Counsel 
Revenue Division, OlD No. 91027 
P.O. Box 40123 
Olympia, WA 98504-0123 
(360) 753-5528 

~ ORIGINAL

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

V. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW 

The Court of Appeals (and the Superior Court and Board of Tax . 

Appeals before it) correctly applied the unambiguous statutes to the 

evidence in the record in this case to hold that Klein Honda's earnings 

from dealer cash are subject to B&O tax under the catch-all "other 

business activities" classification in RCW 82.04.290(2). Nothing about 

the decision is remarkable. 

Klein Honda seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(l), arguing that the 

Court of Appeals decision conflicts with two 1933 cases. One held that a 

graduated income tax violated the uniformity requirements of the 

1 The dissenting judge expressed a different opinion. She viewed earning dealer 
cash as merely making sales to customers and stated that "[b]y moving inventory, Klein 
Honda did not engage in a business activity other than selling cars at retail." Steven 
Klein, 336 P.3d at 670 (Becker, J. dissenting in part). 

7 



Washington Constitution, article VII, section 1, and the other held that 

Washington's first B&O tax was constitutional as an excise tax imposed 

on the privilege of engaging in business. See Culliton v. Chase, 174 

Wash. 363,25 P.2d 81 (1933); State ex rel. Stiner v. Yelle, 174 Wash. 402, 

25 P.2d 91 (1933). Klein Honda also argues that this Court should accept 

review because the Court of Appeals decision raises an issue of substantial 

public interest by imposing tax in the absence of a "discrete" business 

activity, thus unlawfully imposing the B&O tax directly on income instead 

of a business activity. See RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

Klein Honda's arguments are confusing, and the reason is that 

Klein Honda relies on false premises. The first false premise is that 

earning dealer cash involves no business activity "separate" or "discr~te" 

from Klein Honda's retailing activity of selling cars to customers. See Pet. 

at 1, 6, 10-11. This proposition is directly contradicted by evidence in the 

record. The second false premise builds on the first. Klein Honda argues 

that because its "only activity is retailing," to impose B&O tax on dealer 

cash eamings amounts to a direct tax on gross income, contrary to Stiner. 

See Pet. at 1, 4-5, 11. In other words, Klein Honda implies that imposing 

B&O tax on dealer cash is unconstitutional. Klein Honda's third false 

premise is that the Board and the Court of Appeals "held" that the B&O 

tax is a tax on income rather than a tax on business activity. See Pet. at 
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3, 9. Neither the Board nor the Court of Appeals made any such holding. 

Klein Honda's arguments do not establish a basis for this Court's review. 

A. Earning Dealer Cash Is A Business Activity Subject To B&O 
Tax Under The Other Business Activities Classification. 

To understand why Klein Honda's arguments lack merit, a quick 

review of the B&O tax scheme and how the Court of Appeals applied it in 

this case is helpful. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Klein 

Honda's earnings from dealer cash are subject to the B&O tax under the 

other business activities classification in RCW 82.04.290(2). 

1. Klein Honda's business activity of earning dealer cash 
is subject to B&O tax. 

The Legislature imposes the tax "as a tax for the act or privilege of 

engaging in business activities." RCW 82.04.220(1). This Court has 

recognized that the Legislature "intended to impose the business and 

occupation tax upon: virtually all business activities carried on within the 

state." Simpson Inv. Co. v. Dep 't of Revenue, 141 Wn.2d 139, 149, 3 PJd 

741 (2000) (quoting Time Oil Co. v. State, 79 Wn.2d 143, 146, 483 P.2d 

628 (1971)). This principle is reflected in broad definitions. For instance, 

"engaging in business" means "commencing, conducting, or continuing in 

business." RCW 82.04.150. "Business," in turn, means "all activities 

engaged in with the object of gain, benefit, or advantage to the taxpayer or 

to another person or class, directly or indirectly." RCW 82.04.140. 
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During the period at issue, Klein Honda was "engaging in the 

business" of conducting a Honda automobile dealership. Its "business" 

included all those activities with the object of gain, benefit or advantage, 

for either the taxpayer or third-party. Dealer cash benefited both Klein 

Honda and American Honda. For example, in one dealer cash program, 

Klein Honda benefited by receiving a payment of $1,000 for each 2003 

Honda insight it sold during a three-month period in 2003. Similarly, 

American Honda benefited by having its dealers move inventory off the 

lots through the increased ability to take certain competitive actions in the 

automotive market (i.e., lowering the retail price). AR 285, 727, VTP 50. 

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly held Klein Honda was subject 

to the B&O tax by engaging in business activities and that dealer cash was 

"connected to a business activity." Steven Klein, 336 P.3d at 667. 

2. The catch-all rate for othenvise unspecified business 
activities in RCW 82.04.290(2) applies to Klein Honda's 
gross income from dealer cash. 

The B&O tax rate varies by the nature of the business activity. See 

RCW 82.04.220(1) ("The tax is measured by the application of rates 

against the value of products, gross proceeds of sales, or gross income of 

the business, as the case may be"); Time Oil, 79 Wn.2d at 146 (the statute 

classifies various business activities "for purposes of applying and 

measuring the tax"). These include, among others, manufacturing (RCW 
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82.04.240), retailing (RCW 82.04.250), wholesaling (RCW 82.04.270), 

conducting horse races (RCW 82.04.286), providing day care (RCW 

82.04.2905), and printing or publishing newspapers, magazines, and 

periodicals (RCW 82.04.280). 

For business activities that do not fall within one of the specified 

classifications, the Legislature created a catch-all classification in RCW 

82.04.290(2) for other business activities (commonly referred to as the 

"service and other" classification). This classification imposes a tax rate 

of 1.5 percent on the gross income of "any business activity other than or 

in addition to an activity taxed explicitly" under another section. RCW 

82.04.290(2) (emphasis supplied)? 

Earning dealer cash is one of those unspecified business activities 

that is "other than or in addition to" an activity taxed explicitly. Id. It is 

not mentioned in any of the classifications explicitly applying to specified 

2 The measure of the tax, "gross income ofthe business," is broadly defmed as: 

[T]he value proceeding or accruing by reason of the transaction of the 
business engaged in and includes gross proceeds of sales, compensation 
for the rendition of services, ... interest, discount, rents, royalties, fees, 
commissions, dividends, and other emoluments however designated, all 
without any deduction on account of the cost of tangible property sold, 
the cost of materials used, labor costs, interest, discount, delivery costs, 
taxes, or any other expense whatsoever paid or accrued and without any 
deduction on account of losses. 

RCW 82.04.080(1) (emphasis added). Likewise, RCW 82.04.090 defmes "value 
proceeding or accruing" in pertinent part as "the consideration, whether money, credits, 
rights, or other property expressed in terms of money, actually received or accrued." 
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business activities and thus is "other than" those activities. Or, earning 

dealer cash is an activity "in addition to" other activities, like retailing. In 

either case, the privilege of earning dealer cash is taxable under the catch-

all other business activities rate in RCW 82.04.290(2).3 Accordingly, the 

Court of Appeals conectly applied RCW 82.04.290(2) to dealer cash, 

which it described as "a discrete activity beyond the mere retail sale of 

those vehicles." Steven Klein, 336 P .3d at 667. 

It is undisputed that dealer cash is not subject to the "retailing" 

B&O tax classification because Klein Honda does not make a retail sale of 

the vehicle to American Honda. A "sale" is a transfer of the ownership or 

possession of property for valuable consideration under RCW 82.04.040, 

and "sales" of tangible personal property, including automobiles, are 

"sales at retail" unless purchased for resale or falling within other 

specified exclusions. RCW 82.04.050(1)(a). The purchaser owes retail 

sales tax on each retail sale, and the seller pays retailing B&O tax on its 

income from those sales. RCW 82.08.020(1); RCW 82.04.250(1). To 

earn dealer cash, Klein Honda does not transfer possession or ownership 

of vehicles to American Honda for consideration. Thus, Klein's 

3 Klein Honda does not dispute that if dealer cash is taxable under RCW 
82.04.290(2), the payments represent its "gross income of the business" from engaging in 
that activity. See RCW 82.04.080 (including within definition "other emoluments 
however designated"); Steven Klein, 336 P.3d at 666 (discussing scope of defmition). 
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transaction with American Honda is not a "sale at retail" subject to the 

retailing B&O tax rate. See Steven Klein, 336 P .3d at 666~67 & n.l. 

3. Earning dealer cash is not the "same exact" business 
activity as making retail sales of vehicles. 

Although Klein Honda agrees that income from dealer cash is not 

subject to the retailing B&O tax classification, Klein Honda nonetheless 

argues that earning dealer cash is the "same exact activity" as retailing and 

cannot be taxed under the other business activities classification in RCW 

82.04.290(2). Pet. at 11. Under Klein Honda's "discrete activity" theory, 

dealer cash constitutes nothing more or different than retailing, but 

because it is not taxable under the retailing B&O classification, it cannot 

be taxed at all. Pet. at 1 0~ 11. 

Klein Honda's argument disregards the entire B&O tax scheme, 

which is to tax all business activities, however described, unless a 

deduction or exemption applies. Budget Rent~A-Car of Washington-

Oregon, Inc. v. Dep 't of Revenue, 81 Wn.2d 171, 175, 500 P .2d 764 

(1972); Simpson, 14.1 Wn.2d at 149 (quoting Time Oil Co., 79 Wn.2d at 

146); Reynolds Metals Co. v. State, 65 Wn.2d 882, 885,400 P.2d 310 

(1965) (while the B&O tax avoids imposing double or triple liability, the 

corollary of this principle is that each business activity is taxed once). 

Businesses may owe B&O tax under multiple tax classifications for 
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portions of their gross income if they engage in multiple business 

activities. RCW 82.04.440(1). As this Court has noted, "each business 

activity in which one is engaged is subject to the [B&O] tax, not just the 

principal business." Air-Mac, Inc. v. State, 78 Wn.2d 319, 323, 474 P.2d 

261 (1970) (taxpayer liable for wholesaling B&O tax on certain occasional 

sales although its principal business was retailing) (emphasis in original). 

Klein Honda's interpretation of the statutes would create non-

statutory deductions for sources of business income not directly tied to 

providing services. This cannot be the Legislature's intent- the 

Legislature's broadly-worded catch-all classification for "any business 

activity" not otherwise specified would have little meaning if that were 

true. Accord, TracFone Wireless, Inc. v. Dep 't of Revenue, 170 Wn.2d 

273,242 P.3d 810 (2010) (tax exemptions may not be created by 

implication). 

Klein Honda's argument that dealer cash is the "exact same 

activity" as the retailsale also disregards the undisputed facts. Compare 

retail sale transactions with dealer cash transactions: 

Retail Sale 

• Transaction between purchaser and dealer. 
• Initiated by consumer wishing to purchase a vehicle. 
• Terms of contract negotiated through offers and counteroffers 

between purchaser and dealer until acceptance of price for vehicle. 
• Sale may occur any time the dealer is open for business. 
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• Possession of vehicle transferred to purchaser for agreed price. 

Dealer Cash · 

• Transaction between manufacturer (American Honda) and dealer. 
• Initiated by manufacturer (American Honda) offering incentive 

program. 
• Unilateral contract with offer by manufacturer (American Honda) 

in a marketing bulletin and acceptance by dealer's performance of 
selling a specific model of vehicle during a designated period of 
time and performing documentation requirements. 

• Offer conditioned on events occuning during a specified window 
of time. 

• No transfer of vehicle or other tangible personal property. 

In fact, the only common event between retail sales of vehicles and dealer 

cash is the fact that a vehicle is sold to a customer. But this commonality 

does not erase the facts that the retail sales of vehicles are separate from 

dealer cash transactions, under separate contracts, and between different 

patties. Klein Honda's premise that earning dealer cash is the "same exact 

activity" as selling vehicles at retail is false. 

B. The Court Of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With Prior 
Decisions Of This Court. 

Based in part on the false premise that earning dealer cash is not a 

discrete, taxable business activity, Klein Honda seems to argue that 

imposing tax on dealer cash amounts to imposing tax on income, rather 

than on a business activity. Pet. at 10-11. This, according to Klein 

Honda, would render the tax a property tax in violation of the Washington 

Constitution's uniformity requirements. Pet. at 11. Klein Honda also 
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argues that the Court of Appeals "flatly denies" that the B&O tax is an 

excise tax, instead holding that it is "imposed on" gross revenue. Pet. at 9-

10. Under either theory, Klein Honda argues that the Court of Appeals 

decision conflicts with this Court's 1933 decisions in Culliton and Stiner. 

Pet. 8-11. Klein Honda is incorrect. 

The Culliton and Stiner decisions concerned the nature of two 

taxes: a graduated income tax and a tax on the privilege of doing 

business. A question in each case was whether the tax was a property tax 

or an excise tax. The distinction between a property tax and an excise tax 

is significant because the Washington State Constitution imposes the 

uniformity requirements under article VII, section 1, only on direct taxes, 

such as property taxes. See In re Estate of Hambleton, _ Wn.2d _, 

-335 P.3d 398,403 (2014). 

In Culliton, this Court struck down as unconstitutional a graduated 

income tax passed by initiative in 1932. Article VII, section 1, requires 

that taxes be uniform "upon the same class of property." It further defines 

"property" as including "everything, whether tangible or intangible, 

subject to ownership." The Court held that income is property under this 

definition, and thus an income tax is a property tax subject to the 

uniformity requirement. Culliton, 174 Wash. at 373-79. Accordingly, 

Washington's graduated income tax was unconstitutional because the tax 
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rates were not uniform. !d. at 374-75, 379.4 The Court was careful to note 

that the tax at issue "can in n,o sense be said to be ... upon corporate or 

business privileges .... " !d. at 378. 

On the same day, the Court issued the decision in Stiner, which 

held that the 1933 tax on engaging in business in the state was an excise 

tax, not a property tax, and thus not subject to uniformity.' Stiner, 174 

Wash. at 407. Just like today's B&O tax, the 1933 tax was imposed on the 

privilege of engaging in business activities and measured by the 

application of various rates against gross income ofthe business, gross 

proceeds of sales, and other measures. !d. at 404-05. As the Court noted, 

"that the amount of the tax is measured by the amount of the income in no 

way affects the purpose of the act or the principle involved." Id at 407. 

The lesson from these two 1933 cases is that a tax on the mere acquisition 

of income alone may invoke the uniformity requirement in article VII, 

section 1, but the privilege of acquiring income through business and 

commercial activities does not. 

The Court of Appeals decision holds that Klein Honda's income 

from dealer cash is subject to the B&O tax. Steven Klein, 336 P.3d at 665-

67. In doing so, it recognizes and discusses the nature of the tax (for the 

4 The Department agrees that Culliton might not be decided the same way if the 
question arose today. However, the possibility of revisiting the constitutionality of an 
income tax in the future has no bearing on how the B&O tax applies today to Klein 
Honda's gross income from earning dealer cash. See Pet. at 9, 12. 
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privilege of engaging in business activities), the broad scope of the tax 

(under various definitions), the measure of the tax (as set forth in 

classifications), and the reasons dealer cash is taxable. !d. Nothing in the 

decision creates a conflict with Culliton or Stiner. 

Klein Honda claims the majority decision "flatly denies B&O Tax 

is an excise tax" by holding that "the tax is imposed on gross revenue." 

Pet. at 9-10. Klein Honda appears to be referencing this statement: 

Therefore, contrary to Klein Honda's argument, the B&O 
tax is not a tax only on specific enumerated business 
activities, but rather on 'the gross revenues received in the 
course of doing business.' 

Steven Klein, 336 P.3d at 667 (quoting Budget Rent-A-Car, 81 Wn.2d at 

173). In making this statement, the Court of Appeals was rejecting Klein 

Honda's "no discrete activity" argument. It is true that the Court of 

Appeals indicated the tax was "on" gross revenues, but so did this Court. 

Budget Rent-A-Car, 81 Wn.2d at 173. 

Klein Honda misreads the Court of Appeals decision. It is 

common for courts, parties, and counsel to refer summarily to the B&O 

tax as a tax "on" gross income or gross receipts instead of using all the 

phrasing ofRCW 82.04.220(1) by stating that the tax is for the privilege 

of engaging in business activities and measured by the gross income of the 

business. Given that the Court of Appeals laid out the B&O tax scheme 
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and the nature of the tax in the paragraphs before making the statement to 

which Klein Honda objects, it is unreasonable to assume the Court of 

Appeals intended to depart from statutes and case law in the wording it 

used. Klein Honda is merely nitpicking the Court of Appeals opinion. 

Klein Honda also accuses the majority of confusing the imposition 

ofthe B&O tax on business activities with the measure of the tax. Pet. at 

10. But the Court of Appeals decision presents no conflict with Stiner. 

Stiner held it was the privilege of engaging in business, "in a broad sense," 

that is the subject of the tax. See Stiner, 174 Wash. at 405-06. 

Specifically, the tax is imposed on "the privilege of engaging in business 

and gainful pursuits under the protection of our laws." Id. at 406. The 

Court of Appeals was consistent with Stiner when it found the tax was not 

a tax on a specific enumerated business activity, but on all business 

activities in the broad sense. Steven Klein, 336 P.3d at 667. 

C. Taxation Of Klein Honda's Dealer Cash Is Not An Issue Of 
Substantial Public Interest. 

The Court of Appeals decision represents a straightforward 

application ofunambiguous statutes to the question of whether one of 

Klein Honda's sources of income is subject to the B&O tax. Whether 

dealer cash is taxable, and how the tax should be measured, does not 

present an issue of substantial public interest. 
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Nothing in the Court of Appeals decision upsets or undermines the 

B&O tax scheme. It is Klein Honda that seeks to upset the B&O tax

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